1. **ADDRESS OF HISTORIC RESOURCE** (must comply with an Office of Property Assessment address)
   - Street address: 2301-03 N. Broad Street
   - Postal code: 19132
   - Councilmanic District: 5

2. **NAME OF HISTORIC RESOURCE**
   - Historic Name: 
   - Current/Common Name: 

3. **TYPE OF HISTORIC RESOURCE**
   - ☑ Building
   - ☐ Structure
   - ☐ Site
   - ☐ Object

4. **PROPERTY INFORMATION**
   - Occupancy: ☑ occupied
   - ☐ vacant
   - ☐ under construction
   - ☐ unknown
   - Current use: 

5. **BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION**
   - Please attach

6. **DESCRIPTION**
   - Please attach

7. **SIGNIFICANCE**
   - Please attach the Statement of Significance.
   - Period of Significance (from year to year): from 1895 to present
   - Date(s) of construction and/or alteration: 1895
   - Architect, engineer, and/or designer: Judson M. Zane, architect
   - Builder, contractor, and/or artisan: 
   - Original owner: 
   - Other significant persons: Congressman Henry Burk (1850-1903), Jules Mastbaum
CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION:
The historic resource satisfies the following criteria for designation (check all that apply):

☐ (a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person significant in the past; or,

☐ (b) Is associated with an event of importance to the history of the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,

☒ (c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or,

☐ (d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or,

☐ (e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,

☐ (f) Contains elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship which represent a significant innovation; or,

☐ (g) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved according to an historic, cultural or architectural motif; or,

☐ (h) Owing to its unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established and familiar visual feature of the neighborhood, community or City; or,

☐ (i) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; or

☒ (j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community.

8. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES
Please attach

9. NOMINATOR
Organization______________________________________Date________________________________

Name with Title__________________________________ Email________________________________

Street Address____________________________________ Telephone____________________________

City, State, and Postal Code____________________________________________________________

Nominator ☐ is ☒ is not the property owner.

PHC USE ONLY

Date of Receipt:_______________________________________________________________________

☒Correct-Complete ☐ Incorrect-Incomplete Date:_________________________________

Date of Notice Issuance:_________________________________________________________________

Property Owner at Time of Notice

Name:______________________________________ State:____ Postal Code:_________

Address:____________________________________ Telephone____________________________

City:_______________________________________ State:____ Postal Code:_________

Date(s) Reviewed by the Committee on Historic Designation:____________________________________

Date(s) Reviewed by the Historical Commission:_____________________________________________

Date of Final Action:__________________________________________________________

☒ Designated ☐ Rejected
5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

2301 North Broad Street

All that certain lot or piece of ground with the buildings and improvements thereon erected, described according to a certain Survey and Plan made on the 7th day of September 1895, as follows, to wit: Situate on the Northeast corner of Broad and Dauphin Street in the 37th Ward of the City of Philadelphia. Containing in front or breadth on the said Broad Street 20 feet and extending of that width in length or depth Eastwardly, between parallel lines at right angles to said Broad Street and extending along the Northerly side of Dauphin Street, 150 feet to the Westerly side of a certain 30 feet wide street called Watts Street (formerly called Pembroke Street) thence extending Northwardly from Dauphin Street to York Street. Being known as 2301 North Broad Street.

The property is known as Parcel No. 030N190125, Office of Property Assessment Account No. 881427000.
2303 North Broad Street

All that certain lot of piece of ground with the buildings and improvements thereon erected. Situate on the East side of Broad Street at the distance of 20 feet Northward from the North side of Dauphin Street in the 37th Ward of the City of Philadelphia. Containing in front or breadth on the said Broad Street 25 feet and extending of that width in length or depth Eastward 150 feet to a certain 30 feet wide street extending from said Dauphin Street to York Street called Pembroke Street. Being known as 2303 North Broad Street

The property is known as Parcel No. 030N190137, Office of Property Assessment Account No. 881427000.
6. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION

The two, four-story twin dwellings at 2301-03 and 2305-07 North Broad Street are emblematic of the residential development that arrived in North Philadelphia just before the turn of the twentieth century. They are large-scale residences characterized by a jumble of hybrid architectural stylistic devices expressed through a more typical (for the neighborhood) brownstone façade and brick side walls. These twins are remnants of a larger development. The PECO substation to the north of 2307 sits in place of a demolished twin by the same architect, and to the north of the substation is another twin, presumably of the same vintage, yet currently clad in one flat plane of heavy dark marble, obscuring any other decoration. To the north of that twin are the remaining buildings that once housed Dropsie College and Mikvah Israel Synagogue.

Constructed 1895-1896, the subject properties form a commanding presence on North Broad, not least because of their height, lack of setback from the public right-of-way, and playful projections and recesses at the facades. Both buildings have been attributed to part time architect and full time real estate developer Judson M. Zane. Mr. Zane’s portfolio is slender and doesn’t communicate enough to understand the design basis for these twins in North Philadelphia. It seems fair to say that Zane tossed together many different elements from the stylistic bag of tricks that was large and wide during the time of construction.
The twin dwelling at 2301-03 N. Broad is a brick structure with brownstone at the west and primary elevation. The building originally contained two residences, divided vertically by a party wall, the top of which still can be seen as a stepped protrusion from the roof. The façade incorporates popular stylistic elements from its 1895-96 era of construction, including balconies, oriel windows, a recessed balcony and a corner turret. The overall arrangement is asymmetrical with a collection of hybrid Victorian architectural themes and in such a way, seems to attempt to riff off the playfulness of prolific North Philadelphia architect Willis G. Hale. This playfulness seems to speak to the corner placement of this dwelling and sets up a façade rhythm that is difficult to ascertain since the third twin is gone (2309-11) and the fourth twin has been so heavily modified (2313-15).
West Elevation
This is a three-story building whose first level is elevated on a high foundation and whose
gently-sloped mansard roof is pierced with dormer windows at the fourth level. This elevation
is of brownstone, both smooth-cut ashlar pieces as well as decoratively carved ones. The
southwest corner of the building is punctuated by turreted oriel windows above the first level.
Vertically, there is a shallow pilaster indicating the location of the party wall that acts to divide
the two residences. At the first level, there is currently a large switchback ramp that takes up
the width of the entire building. A photograph from 1986 shows that there was smooth-faced
rustication at the first level with entry doors for each residence near the party wall with two
windows per residence on either side of that door. The steps to the entry doors were wider
than the door openings, terracing down to the sidewalk, with each step getting wider. The
transom windows at the entry doors and the first level windows originally had decorative
caming similar to the existing transoms for 2305-07.

Above the first level is a decorative belt course with carved brownstone panels, capped with a
small cornice. At the flat plane of the elevation those panels contain two brackets supporting
oriel windows. The decorative panel belt course continues around the base of the turret with
brackets supporting the turret. At the second level, there is one window bay at each residence,
each with an oriel window, the one for 2303 flanked by two flat windows almost in a Chicago-
style configuration. Each window has a deep transom opening that historic photos suggest was
infilled with decorative, leaded glass. At 2301, the second level is also punctuated by the corner
turret that has three windows. Each window opening at the main façade is flanked by floriate
pilasters which contain brackets supporting the Juliet balconies at the third level.

The third level of the residence has two small, horizontal bands defining the same width as the
belt course at the base of the second level. There are no decorative panels, but each band has
very shallow cornice trim. These two bands contain Juliet balconies within each window bay.
Those balconies have lattice trim and are supported by the brackets from the second level
window pilasters. As with the level below, the horizontal detailing continues to the corner
turret and around the corner to the south elevation. The panel at the turret also contains
decorative lattice trim.

Two third floor windows are recessed at 2303 behind two columned supports within the plane
of the façade and behind the Juliet balcony. There is one window opening at the balcony for
2301, with two windows. The turret contain three windows at the third level, just as at the
second level. The third level windows appear to all be contemporary replacements with no
transoms.

Above the third level windows was once a deep, decorative entablature that has been covered
since the 1986 photos were taken. There is a fairly deep, bracketed eave for the cornice that is
likewise covered, but is seen in historic photos. There is a gentle slope to the mansard roof at
the fourth level, and a curve toward the corners sharp enough to give off a slight feel of
Orientalism. The dormer for 2301 is a single window opening with shed roof and two windows.
For 2303, there are two separate dormers with pyramidal, hip roofs and a single window in each. The roof of the turret is incorporated into the roofline and is punctuated by three small round windows at the base and two tiny, hip-roofed windows above, one facing west, the other, south. Historic photos indicate that the roof was originally clad in Spanish tiles.

The facades of 2301-07 North Broad Street, connected by a brownstone arch formed from the belt course supporting the oriel windows of the piano nobile at each dwelling. Photo: Author.

The connecting archway between the two buildings with decorative brownstone elements and an elaborate gate that is early if not original.
*South Elevation*

The south elevation of 2301 runs along Dauphin Street. It has been entirely clad in stucco, with hardly any indication of original decorative elements nor with all windows present. Originally, this elevation was constructed of Roman brick, with the brownstone veneer at the west elevation turning the corner at the first level and ending under the corner turret where there is a bracket supporting the two-story oriel windows.

The first level was originally rusticated just as at the west elevation and presumably extended to the east elevation. Today, two windows at the first level have been converted into doors and each has its own tall entry stoop. These doors were carved out of windows that had gothic arches and the westernmost door has a gothic arch recess in the stucco above the door; the pointed arches of the remainder of the first floor windows have been obscured or removed.

As with the west elevation, there are two horizontal bands defining the sills of the second level windows, and two horizontal bands below the third level windows; these bands still project from the stucco’d wall and are painted a different color. The bands today extend all the way to the east elevation whereas originally, they were interrupted by a large bay containing three windows capped by a decorative balcony behind which was a large, arched window, itself capped by three decorative round window openings. This large window element had four narrow windows at the first level and the entire area may have been the location of a grand stairwell. They nonetheless took advantage of the southern exposure through the leaded glass windows.

At the second level, there is a rectangular bay with three windows and a hip roof to the east of where the grand windows with balcony element were located. The bay window projection is currently clad in vinyl siding with replacement windows. There is one final bay to the east before the original building ends and a newer addition begins. This addition is at the same height of the original building and continues to the back lot line. There is one entry door and stoop in the addition and toward the east corner, there is a four-story faceted bay window projection.

Vertically, the corner turret defines the western end of this elevation. Moving to the east, there is a pilaster that likely defined a chimney between two windows; a small, contemporary window has been punched into the space between the two horizontal bands between the second and third level windows. Of the windows that remain in this elevation, only three at the second and third levels still have their gothic arches.

At the fourth floor, the mansard roof – once clad in tile, now in asphalt shingles – has a series of strong dormer windows, some with single windows, others with double, that each have a heavy pyramidal roof with a high peak. There is a deep overhang with a covered eave that may have contained decorative brackets. All current windows have upper and lower sashes, but historically, seemed to be vertical casements with four lites per sash.
South elevation of 2301 along Dauphin Street showing contemporary stucco. Photo: Author.

South elevation of 2301 along Dauphin Street, dated April 3, 1905. Source: Dept. of Records, City of Philadelphia via phillyhistory.org.
South elevation along Dauphin Street, showing the rear addition. Photo: Author.

East elevation of both buildings at N. Watts Street. Photo: Author.
East Elevation
The east elevation of 2301 is a four story, windowless mass above a two-car garage door opening in a stucco wall. The east elevation of 2303 at the first level also contains a one-story brick wall with a two-car garage door, but at the upper levels can partially be viewed. The first level is difficult to view, but makes up a three story ell. At the second level, there is a porch projection that is as wide as this one dwelling and while clad in vinyl siding with replacement windows, may have been an original component based on the existence of an original porch projection at 2305. Above this enclosed porch at 2303 is a bay window with what seems to be original profiling. The fourth floor does not extend over the ell, and the rear of it can be detected just a few dormer windows in from the west elevation.

North Elevation
The north elevation of 2301 is only visible at the rear addition, and it is a stucco clad wall with small windows staggered at each level of the building. The north elevation of 2303 is difficult to detect, as well. There is a brick wall at the ell and the main volume of the dwelling. The fourth floor mansard roof is only over the main volume of the house and contains three dormer windows. These dormers each have deep pyramidal hip roofs and the mansard roof has the same profile as at the west face of the building. A metal fire escape leads from upper level windows into a presumed easement below.
The rear garages for 2303 and 2305 in the foreground, with the east elevation of 2305-07 in the background, relatively intact. Photo: Author.
7. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The dwellings at 2301-03 and 2305-07 North Broad Street are significant historic resources in Philadelphia and satisfy Criteria C and J for designation on the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places, as enumerated in Section 14-1004 of the Philadelphia zoning code.

(c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; and

(j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social, or historical heritage of the community.

Constructed in 1898 as part of a speculative real estate development by Anthony Morris Zane on one of the last undeveloped blocks of North Broad Street, the subject dwellings meet Criterion C as a reflection of the distinctive, residential form of high Victorian eclecticism, as mostly identified with Willis G. Hale, here playfully expressed in a stylized hybrid of architectural components. Under Criterion J, the subject properties exist as examples of the upper middle-class housing that once lined and significantly characterized North Broad Street toward the end of the Gilded Age and before the turn of the twentieth century.

Criterion (c): Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style.

The subject properties are significant under Criterion C as distinctive architectural contributions to the grand residential profile of North Broad Street in the late nineteenth century. The two sets of twin dwellings at 2301-03 and 2305-07 North Broad Street were part of a speculative development by real estate mogul Anthony Morris Zane. As individual, high-style properties and as significant contributions to the aesthetic of the newly developed neighborhood, the subject residences define the architectural character of the neighborhood along North Broad Street, Philadelphia’s major north-south arterial thoroughfare. In the wake of post-Civil War industrialization and the emergence of a new upwardly mobile generation of recent Americans, North Broad Street found itself at the heart of the residential and commercial developments that were rapidly transforming farmland into a fashionable locale for the city’s newly minted titans of industry. While cross and side streets developed for a wide swath of people, peppered with rowhouses, corner commercial shops, and other, more accessible, residences, North Broad Street emerged as the obvious location for the mansions and other fine houses – detached and not – for wealthy men to build monumental residences. The designs of these new residences were not restrained by traditional mores or establishment ideas of good taste, such as corresponding residences in Rittenhouse Square or the suburban enclave of Chestnut Hill. Led by the unapologetic flamboyance of the Willis Hale-designed mansion for Peter A.B. Widener on N. Broad at Girard Avenue, the city’s new money was drawn like a magnet to inhabiting miniature palaces festooned in a variety of architectural styles.
For the dwellings at 2301-03 and 2305-07 North Broad Street, the design of the buildings was
given over to Judson M. Zane, Anthony’s son.¹ Judson did not have formal architectural training
and is listed in city directories either as a builder or a real estate developer, yet he seemed to
have a design impulse that led him to occasional architectural expressions. Most of Judson’s
work appears in Chestnut Hill where he and his wife settled after having grown up on the 2200
block of Tioga Street in North Philadelphia. The detached houses Judson Zane designed for his
clients are very much of the Chestnut Hill vernacular, that is to say, they employ local materials
such as Wissahickon schist and stylistic characteristics that evoke colonial or Georgian revival
residential architecture. In other words, Zane’s designs seem to respond to their environment
and do not deviate from Chestnut Hill’s tone as a preferred neighborhood for the landed
gentry, or those who aspire to it.

Similarly, Zane’s designs for the subject properties do the same thing, in a much different
stylistic vocabulary. The brick and brownstone buildings on North Broad Street have the scale
and massing of a grand residence on a major street and deploy an eclectic blend of components
that can be found in some of the designs of another North Philadelphia architect, Willis G. Hale.
Hale became famous – some would say infamous – for his unique expression of High Victorian
architectural design. Hale was employed by speculative developers Peter A.B. Widener and
William Weightman (to whom he was related by marriage). For them, his highly ornate work
has brought on comparisons to Frank Furness whose own work was initially regarded much like
Hale’s, as “architectural aberrations.”² While architectural historian Michael J. Lewis may
regard Hale as derivative in contrast to Furness’s genius, the breadth of Hale’s commissions can
still be seen across North Philadelphia, from elegant mansions to small rowhouse
developments.

There is no pretense to Quaker austerity here, although the buildings are stately. The various
details of the buildings at 2301-07 North Broad Street that are particularly evocative of Hale’s
designs include Juliet balconies, used as projections in tandem with recessed balconies,
decorated with embossed latticework, providing a sort of Levantine feel to the N. Broad Street
façade. Classically Victorian floriate detail can also be found on the façade’s metalwork and
carved brownstone. Combined with discrete egg and dart patterning in the brownstone as well
as with more classically inspired cornices, the stylistic devices employed at the façade are
multiple. The transom windows at the first level of the buildings have a Moorish patterning to
the leaded cames, while the original transoms at the windows of the piano nobile have a more
delicate and vertical camework. The dormer windows at the fourth level have deep, pyramidal
roofs over them. What is a stylistic jumble still retains a certain elegance of expression through
the scale of the details and their reasonable composition. A turret capped humorously with
several small openings expresses the corner. While the original, south façade of 2301 is now
covered in stucco, it originally held a playful mix of windows (gothic arched; large, leaded glass;

² “Architectural Aberrations: No. 9 – The Hale Building,” Architectural Record, 3 (October-December
sashes with large transoms) contained and organized by the regularity of thin, horizontal belt courses.

**Criterion (j): Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community.**

As the Industrial Age grew, Philadelphia became an important hub of American economic and manufacturing activity. Known as the “Workshop of the World,” the city provided enormous opportunities to people with grand ideas, a willingness to hustle, and a little bit of capital. Eventually, a new class of industrial leaders emerged in the late nineteenth century to take their place in the residential landscape of Philadelphia. Shunned as new money parvenus by established Philadelphians, the aspiring members of the nouveau riche converged upon North Broad Street. This thoroughfare, one of the original streets in William Penn’s 1862 plan, was moving from a rural landscape outside of the city, dotted with estates, to one that was an extension of the center city’s street grid. Broad Street became the magnet for these industrial leaders and nouveau riche, many of whom were immigrants, to stake their claim to the American Dream. Led by Peter A. B. Widener and William Weightman, North Broad Street saw enormous development. North of Girard Avenue, in particular, the houses and mansions of the rich were built. Broad Street became a grand promenade, a fashionable address, and a landscape of high end residential design, some of which continues to exist amidst new developmental pressures. The two twin dwellings at 2301-07 North Broad Street are remnants of this late Gilded Age development trend. This one block of North Broad Street, the east side between Dauphin and York, was one of the last in the area to be developed.

Anthony Morris Zane (1852-1926), a scion of a Quaker and Episcopalian marriage, owned the entire parcel (including for the subject properties) along the east side of Broad Street between York and Dauphin Streets, east to N. 13th Street, according to the 1895 Bromley map. Zane’s father was Abraham V. Zane, an attorney who resided at 2127 N. Camac Street; his mother was the former Maria Antoinette Morris. His maternal family is distantly related to the early Morris and Cadwalader families of Philadelphia. Additionally, Zane seemed to be a beneficiary of an unmarried aunt’s estate, including several Philadelphia properties. This inheritance may have been the impetus for Zane’s small but not insignificant real estate holdings in Philadelphia, including an eponymous property on Chestnut Street.

Zane was able to profit from the rapid development in the late nineteenth century of this part of North Philadelphia. The architectural design of the subject properties is attributed to Judson M. Zane, Anthony’s son, who is mostly known as a real estate developer but appears on the

---

Philadelphia Architects and Buildings website as an Architect and Builder. Together, the Zanes rode the wave of the North Philadelphia land rush that was spurred on by the city’s growth as the Workshop of the World, with rowhouse developments for the workers and grand mansions for their bosses lining North Broad in a parade of trophy housing. Proximity to factories and to Center City was a key characteristic of the popularity of living in central North Philadelphia, while an address on North Broad Street further trumpeted a person’s importance and wealth.

As with West Philadelphia, North Philadelphia’s development from farmland in Penn’s Northern Liberties to dense residential development was due to the advent of the streetcar, making access to and from Center City much easier. However, those interested in the area were not members of Philadelphia’s blue-blooded upper classes, but rather the newly wealthy leaders of industry. HABS historian Jamie Jacobs wrote about North Broad Street in 2000 that “commodious row and single-family houses intended for upper-class owners and tenants rapidly lined the street of North Philadelphia, particularly along Broad Street. The men who made ostentatious statements of their wealth through the houses they constructed failed to penetrate the social and power circles of Philadelphia’s old and established blue-blood families. The wealthy of the North Broad Street area were the nouveaux riches who made their fortunes in ways that differed from the practices of Philadelphia’s staid gentry.”

This particular stretch of North Broad Street was attractive to the Jewish community of Philadelphia around the turn of the twentieth century. At the north end of the subject block, Mikveh Israel and Dropsie College constructed properties, confirming the neighborhood’s emergent importance for Jewish Philadelphians and called the block where these institutions (and the subject properties) were located the “cornerstone of Jewish education.” Congregation Mikveh Israel is one the nation’s oldest synagogues, having been founded in 1740. In 1907, following large-scale Jewish migration to North Philadelphia, the congregation purchased land once owned by Anthony Zane to the north of the subject properties, on N. Broad at York Street. They hired the architecture firm of Pilcher and Tachau of New York to design the neoclassical synagogue at the corner. Two other buildings were constructed to the south of the synagogue for Gratz College (founded 1897) and Dropsie College (founded 1907), set back from the street behind a small lawn. Together, this campus of Judaic worship and education anchored an important corner along Broad Street in the heart of a thriving Jewish neighborhood until 1976 when the synagogue vacated North Broad for a new building near Independence Hall. The buildings that once housed the synagogue and Dropsie College are both designated properties on the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places.

---


The architectural grandeur that Judson Zane evoked was successful in attracting some of Philadelphia’s newly wealthy to take up residence. One of the early occupants of 2301 was Republican Congressman Henry Burk (1850-1903). Born in Germany, Burk’s shoemaker father chose to emigrate to Philadelphia in 1854. Along with two brothers, Alfred and Charles, Burk Brothers and Company specialized in the manufacture of kid leather and “was one of Philadelphia’s largest and most successful leather firms.”

Henry became a multimillionaire within fifteen years primarily from two successful patents that were revolutionary for the kid leather and tanning industries, allowing American products to rise to the standards set by French leather and doing so in a fraction of the time it typically took to produce glazed kid leather. In 1906, Henry’s brother and business partner Alfred commissioned the extant limestone Burk Mansion at 1500 N. Broad Street in place of a four-story brownstone owned by William Singerly. The Burk Mansion is also considered a major contributor to the northern expanse of Broad as the preferred site of the homes of that era’s titans of industry. From at least 1899, 2303 N. Broad was the residence of Mr. and Mrs. Michael Patrick Howlett. M.P. Howlett (1850-1921) was an Irish immigrant who established a successful shipping business.

Early on, 2305 N. Broad Street was the residence of Mr. and Mrs. Joseph N. Snellenburg. Joseph (1872-1941) was a scion of the eponymous retail empire founded by his grandfather Joseph Jules Snellenburg in 1869. Father Nathan Snellenburg had a residence two blocks south at 2129 N. Broad Street. N. Snellenburg & Company was a middle-class department store on Market Street with a clothing factory located at 642 N. Broad Street where the company designed and made their own clothing line. As a member of this prominent Jewish family, Joseph was a member of the State Emergency Relief Board (appointed in 1932), served on the Philadelphia Board of Trade, and carried on the tradition of involvement in his family’s clothing business. In 1906, the residence at 2307 N. Broad Street was listed as the home of Mrs. William Butler (the wife of a grocery chain owner), while in 1912, Jules E. Mastbaum bought the property which was valued at $26,000 and described as “a three-story and mansard roof brownstone front house, with a double three-story brick back building.” Jules Mastbaum (1872-1926) was a University of Pennsylvania graduate and married to a woman whose mother’s family founded the Lit Brothers department Store. Mastbaum opened the first nickelodeon in Philadelphia and later made a fortune with a large theatre chain, although his greatest legacy may be the donation of the Rodin Museum to the city of Philadelphia, where Rodin’s work was first

---

9 Ibid.
12 “$26,000 Property Changes Owners,” *Philadelphia Inquirer*, November 13, 1912, 5.
displayed in 1876 at the Centennial Exposition. Interestingly, Mastbaum was also on the Board of Governors for Dropsie College, located in the same block as his residence.

Conclusion

The two brownstone and brick twin dwellings at 2301-07 North Broad Street at Dauphin represent an important architectural heritage in Victorian residential design and in the real estate development that was so vibrant in North Philadelphia in the late nineteenth century. Evocative of the architecture of contemporaries like Willis G. Hale, the designs of these residences match the style and scale of adjacent Gilded Age mansions, expressing an eclectic aesthetic almost Levantine in its architectural elements. During the Gilded Age’s heyday, this highly ornamental style was deployed widely among the grand residences that developed along North Broad Street, Philadelphia’s most important north-south thoroughfare. In its early years, it succeeded in attracting a passel of newly rich entrepreneurs, some of whom had businesses or factories nearby in North Philadelphia.

Figure 1. 1862 Philadelphia Atlas by Samuel M. Smedley shows the subject neighborhood with an overlay of gridted streets yet to be completely built, and with remnants of the early farmland such as Cohocksink Creek along with a smattering of hotels, breweries, and farmhouses. Lamb Tavern Road was an early thoroughfare bisecting Broad Street where a popular tavern called the Punch Bowl was once located from which customers could watch races up and down North Broad.

14 Ibid.
Figure 2. G. M. Hopkin’s 1875 *Atlas of the City of Philadelphia* shows the site of the two subject buildings owned by Jonathan Baird. As is manifest by the individual parcel division, the development of North Broad Street at this time is arriving from the south.

Figure 3. G.W. Bromley’s *Atlas of the City of Philadelphia* from 1895 shows the large parcel at the east side of North Broad and between Dauphin and York Streets as owned by Anthony Morris Zane. The surrounding neighborhood is mostly built up by rowhouse development at this point.
Figure 4. G.W. Bromley's *Atlas of the City of Philadelphia* from 1910 shows four twins at the south end of the block between Dauphin and York fronting Broad Street. The subject properties are present, as is Dropsie College’s future site and that of Mikvah Israel Synagogue.

Figure 5. A photograph of the subject properties from December 1986. Source: Philadelphia Architects and Buildings website, The Athenaeum of Philadelphia.
Figure 6. A photograph of the corner turret at 2301 North Broad Street at Dauphin Street from December 1986. The brick at the south elevation has been painted.

Figure 7. Notice in the Philadelphia Inquirer of Judson Zane’s architectural designs for his father’s property on North Broad Street between York and Dauphin Streets, May 17, 1895.
Figure 8. From the August 10, 1896 Philadelphia Inquirer, page 10, announcing that Peter Kiefaber bought one of the subject properties. Kiefaber made his fortune in produce and grocery distribution with his eponymous company.

Figure 9. Excerpt from the 1906 Boyd’s Blue Book listing the residents of the subject properties.
Figure 10. Judson Zane was architect for several Chestnut Hill properties around the turn of the last century. This colonial revival house in local schist responds to the style preferences of this neighborhood as much as the design of the subject properties responds to their N. Broad Street environment. Source of 1985 MLS listing: Athenaeum of Philadelphia.

Figure 11. Another of Judson Zane’s designs for Chestnut Hill. Source of MLS listing: Athenaeum of Philadelphia.
9. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES


Historical Society of Pennsylvania files


Newspapers.com

Philadelphia Department of Public Records.

Philadelphia Inquirer via newspapers.com


